CITY OF NORTH ® :
EST 1810

Board of Zoning and Building Appeals
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS

AGENDA OF DECEMBER 18, 2025

7:00 PM

CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Regular meeting minutes of November 20, 2025
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT

OTHER REPORTS OR CORRESPONDENCE
Schedule BZBA 2026 Training

PUBLIC HEARINGS

PPZ2025-0391 John & Jennifer Phelan, 6460 Stoney Ridge Rd, PPN: 07-00-028-101-

098

Proposal consists of constructing a garage. Property is zoned R-1 Residence District.

Requests:

1. A variance for a garage in the front yard. Code allows garages in the rear yard only,
Section 1294.03(c).

2. A 4-foot variance for height of a garage. Height of proposed garage is 19 feet, code
allows 15 feet, Section 1294.03(d)(1).

ADJOURNMENT

Page 1 of 19



NORTH RIDGEVILLE BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS
MINUTES OF
REGULAR MEETING - THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

CALL TO ORDER:
Chairwoman Masterson called the meeting to order with the Pledge of Allegiance at 7:00 PM.

ROLL CALL:

Present were members James Cain, Brad Weaver, Planning Commission Liaison Frank Toth, Vice-
Chairman Paul Graupmann and Chairwoman Linda Masterson.

Also present were Council Liaison Cliff Winkel, Chief Building Official Guy Fursdon, Planning and
Development Director Kim Lieber, Assistant Law Director Toni Morgan and Deputy Clerk of Council Tina
Wieber.

MINUTES:
Regular meeting minutes of October 23, 2025

Special meeting minutes of November 6, 2025

Moved by Masterson and seconded by Toth to approve the regular meeting minutes of October
23, 2025, and the special meeting minutes of November 6, 2025.

A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried.
Yes-5 No-0
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT:

Mr. Toth stated that the North Ridgeville Planning Commission took action on two items at their
regularly scheduled meeting on November 12th, 2025. The first item was Ordinance 2025-110, an
ordinance amending Sections 1266.0, 1268.02 and 1272.04 of the North Ridgeville Zoning Code to update
use regulations for automobile service stations and gasoline stations, as amended.

This legislation was introduced by Councilman Abens in July of this year. His stated intent in proposing
the ordinance was in response to the public concern expressed with the application and eventual
approval of the Circle K gas station project at the corner of Root and Lorain Roads.

The legislation was initially proposed as prohibiting the establishment of a new gas station within a one-
mile radius of an existing gas station, similar to the recently passed legislation prohibiting the
establishment of a new car wash within a one-mile radius of an existing car wash. After thoughtful
review, it was determined that the one-mile radius would excessively inhibit the opportunity to provide
additional future fueling station options to our residents, especially in underserved areas of the city. In
the end, Planning Commission recommended for approval by City Council an amended version of the
legislation which decreases the exclusion zone from a one mile radius to a one-half mile radius from an
existing service station.

The second item was Ordinance 2025-145 an ordinance providing for the renaming of Thibo Trail to

Page 2 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 2
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

Orchard Park Drive. PC Action: The Planning Commission recommended approval of the ordinance with
the condition that Orchard Park Drive start where the street bends east and that the existing dwellings
with Avon Belden addresses are maintained as such on a portion of unnamed street.

In addition to these two items, Director Lieber advised the Commission on an Administrative Approval
for a Certificate of Zoning Compliance for postal packing and shipping services to: The UPS Store located
at 34297 Center Ridge Road (in the Giant Eagle Plaza).

OTHER REPORTS OR CORRESPONDENCE:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

PPZ72025-0382 Andrew Bennie, 51 Cadet Drive, PPN: 07-00-022-105-014
Proposal consists of constructing a breezeway roof connecting house and detached garage. Property is
zoned R-1 Residence District. Requests:
1. A 10-foot variance for setback of a detached private garage from a dwelling. Applicant shows 0
feet, code requires 10 feet, Section 1294.03(a).
2. A le64-square foot variance for area of a detached private garage. Applicant shows 840 square
feet, code allows 676 square feet, Section 1294.03(d)(1).

Application was read.
Chairwoman Masterson asked if there was a representative for the application.

Andrew Bennie 51 Cadet Drive, North Ridgeville, OH 44039, was sworn in.

Chairwoman Masterson asked Director Lieber for her administrative review.

Director Lieber stated that the application was tabled at their last meeting, and the applicant has
returned with a modified proposal. The applicant has amended the proposal involving construction of a
breezeway between his existing home and the 22 by 28-foot detached garage that was permitted and
constructed in 2023. She stated that the roof breezeway would be 14 feet wide and cover the approximate
16-foot gap between the structures. She explained that adding 224 square feet of roofed area to the
existing 616 square foot building would bring the total garage area to 840 square feet and that exceeded
the allowable size by 164 square feet. She added that also, because that breezeway in effect connected
the two structures, the garage became attached to the home, which was second variance for the
separation between two structures and the applicant had reduced the level of request for the area of the
garage from exceeding code requirements by 40% to exceeding code requirements by 24%.

Chairwoman Masterson asked the applicant if he had anything to add since the last time he presented.
Mr. Bennie stated that he did not.
Chairwoman Masterson asked if any of the Board members had any questions.

Member Toth stated that he had questions for the Administration. He commented that essentially what's
happening is that he is tying this breezeway into his garage and his home with this plan as drawn. He
asked if the applicant were to terminate his roof line, say a foot short off the garage and a foot short of

Page 3 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 3
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

the home, he wouldn't even be there.

Chief Building Official Fursdon stated that he would still be there for a variance because an accessory
structure must be 10 feet away from the dwelling, so he wouldn't meet the 10-foot requirement. He
commented that he didn’t know why he would separate it from the garage, but if it were an independent
structure, it wouldn't be 10 feet away from the garage and it wouldn't be 10 feet away from the dwelling,
so he would still be there for variances.

Member Toth asked if he would not have the opportunity to erect a trussed roof supported by posts to
connect or not to connect, but to provide a roof for a walkway from the garage to the home, that would
be considered an accessory structure.

Chief Building Official Fursdon stated that anything outside of the dwelling is considered an accessory
structure to the property, like a shed, a garage, even a chicken coop is still considered an accessory
structure to the dwelling.

Member Toth asked if it would be similar to say a gazebo.

Chief Building Official stated yes.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that the last time the applicant was before the Board, they reviewed the
Duncan factors and stated that she understood the need for wanting to be able to go from his garage to
his house and not get wet. She indicated that she appreciated the fact that he decreased his variance
request from 40% to 24%. She stated that he had a very unique property and didn’t have a lot of other
options as to where it could go and thought he had done a good job in his presentation. She asked if
anyone from the administration had any comments, concerns or questions.

Council Liaison Winkle stated that he thought one of the things they needed to make sure of was that the
integrity and character of the neighborhoods were considered and that the breezeway really wouldn't be

that visible from the street.

Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that she agreed with the point that was just made by Mr. Winkle
that it was not going to be visible at all from the street.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if any of the Board members had any other comments, questions, or
concerns.

None were given.

Moved by Masterson and seconded by Cain to approve the variance.
A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried.

Yes-5 No-0

PPZ2025-0389 Denise Bittner, Body Remedy Massage & Wellness LL.C, 7079 Avon

Belden Rd, PPN: 07-00-021-117-094

Page 4 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 4
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

Owner: Avon Belden Business Mall, LLC. Proposal consists of window signage. Property is zoned B-2
Central Business District. Request:
1. A variance for window signs occupying 100% of a window area, code allows 50%, Section

1286.11(b)(1).
Application was read.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if there was a representative for the application.

Denise Bittner, Body Remedy Massage & Wellness LLC, 7079 Belden Rd, North Ridgeville, OH 44039, was

sworn in.

Chairwoman Masterson asked Director Lieber for her administrative review.

Director Lieber explained that the applicant operated a massage establishment and one of the units of a
multi-tenant commercial building on Avon Belden Road. She stated that the City’s zoning inspector had
observed that window signage had been installed recently, completely occupying the four west facing
storefront windows of that unit and that the zoning code allows for 50% coverage by window signs. She
indicated that a notice of zoning violation was issued and the applicant was seeking a variance as a
means to remedy that violation. For purposes of that review, the four west-facing windowpanes
comprising that storefront system were considered one window area, while the north facing windows
that approached that front door to the business were considered a separate window area. She mentioned
that although the storefront glazing wrapped around the corner, the change in building plan constituted
an architectural separation, so in looking at the definition of window area, window area separated by
piers architectural, comments or similar features that are not glass or window framing or support shall
be considered separate and distinct window areas. She stated that in this case, the determination was
made that those four windows were one window area, therefore, the signs constituted 100% coverage.

Chairwoman Masterson asked the Ms. Bittner to present her application.

Ms. Bittner stated that she had not realized the two side sections of the window were being considered as
part of the overall coverage until this meeting. She explained that she believed the current window
coverings constituted 80% coverage. She noted that she had been in business since 2018 on Center Ridge
Road and originally selected her previous location because of its visibility near the stoplight at the
Marathon station; however, when the road expansion removed the stoplight, they lost visibility and
traffic.

She stated that she began searching for a new space with better visibility and came across the current
unit by chance after noticing a large “For Rent” sign in the window. The unit was twice the size of her
former location, allowing room for expansion. She added that North Ridgeville Eye Care had occupied
the location for eight years and had similar window coverings, which led her to assume her business
would be permitted to use the windows in the same way.

Ms. Bittner explained that the images on the window serve as coverings because the space behind them
is an active massage treatment room, where light, sound, and temperature control are necessary. They
also intended the coverings to serve a dual purpose as signage. She noted the difficulty of designing
signage due to the window being divided into four sections and mentioned that attempts to place her
previous unit’s logo looked awkward. She stated that she believed the current design was tasteful,

Page 5 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 5
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

professional, and impactful, consistent with what is typically used in similar businesses, and that they
had received many compliments.

She stated that she was unaware of the ordinance until receiving a phone call and violation notice. She
expressed hope that the business would be allowed to keep the coverings, reiterating her belief that they
represented 80% coverage because the two side panels appeared architecturally separated by the same
framework. She acknowledged that based on the City’s interpretation, the coverage may be considered
100%.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if the Board had any comments, questions or concerns.

Director Lieber stated that she wanted to add one more comment because it was pointed out that there
had been signage in that window prior, so she went on a bit of a fact-finding mission to see if she could
find any evidence of a permit or approval for that. She said, as they were aware the sign ordinance was
updated in 2023 and so was in effect. And this was when this business moved in, but before that, she
thought perhaps they didn't have rules on the books regarding that, governing that same factor. But in
fact, limitations on window signage also existed in the version of the zoning code that was previously in
effect. She had asked Ms. Wieber to go back into the records in the minutes of BZBA to look up that unit
and to see if there had been any variances granted for that location and she did not turn up any. She
commented that there may very well have been signage at the location in the past, but it wouldn't have
been signage that had been permitted, issued a permit for that was more compliant with the code at the
time, so likely it just kind of flew under the radar and hadn't been noticed by city staff.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that in the past, due to staffing, it would have only been addressed if
somebody complained and asked if this time the zoning inspector noticed it and that was how the
complaint came about.

Director Lieber stated that that was correct.

Mr. Toth stated that Director Lieber’'s comments brought something to mind and asked if one would be
permitted to put a translucent like frosting film over 100% of the window.

Director Lieber stated that there were probably a variety of different things that could be done and that a
film could be one option. She mentioned that it could get a little tricky when thinking about what signage
is and what is an architectural feature of the building. She explained that obviously if you have graphics
or words that’s signage, something opaque or that could be shades or some kind of tinting like that, if it
retains the character as a window, then those would be perfectly acceptable. She indicated that the grey
area might happen if for example there was a T-Mobile store and they had windows and they decided to
put hot pink over all their front windows, which is their brand color and is more designed to be part of
their brand, designed to be more signage. She stated that there were options there but that they just had
to make sure it fell on the side of architecture and not on the side of signage.

Member Toth noted that the applicant stated she needed to control temperature and light through the
windows for one of her treatment areas. He said he was comparing her request to the former North
Ridgeville Eye Care signage. Drawing on his graphics background, he explained that their signage
consisted of simple line-type lettering with their name and vision source, whereas the applicant’s
proposal involved four full-color illustrations that fully blacked out the windows.

Page 6 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 6
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

He asked whether she would be permitted to use an opaque film to control light and temperature, and
then add line-type signage similar to what North Ridgeville Eye Care had used. He added that, viewed
from that perspective, the previous North Ridgeville Eye Care signage may have been compliant at the
time because only the lettering itself would have counted as signage if the background covering was
permitted.

Chairwoman Masterson commented that they were pictures and they didn’t have the business name. She
stated that she saw that Body Remedy, Massage and Wellness was on the top and then there was the little
medallion sign, and asked if those were both permitted.

Director Lieber said that they were.
Chairwoman Masterson asked if they obtained permits for those.

Director Lieber stated that she believed that was the case, but she wanted to caution the Board that when
looking at signage, they needed to be content neutral and could not look at the message. She explained
that it could be a combination of graphics and colors and patterns and words but that was expressly
something that they were cautioned not to discuss was the content of the sign as that runs afoul of case
law that went before the US Supreme Court and in Reed versus Town of Gilbert it explicitly says you cannot
look at the content of the sign in order to make determinations about how to classify it and she
encouraged the Board not to look at or discuss elements of the graphics or words, et cetera, and just look
at the area that was being covered.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if she was telling her that images were constituting the sign.
Director Lieber stated that that was correct.

Chairwoman Masterson continued and it didn’t matter if there were words or no words and they were
not allowed to take that into consideration at all.

Director Lieber commented that that was correct.
Assistant Law Director Morgan stated from a legal standpoint, words convey speech, as well as even
dance is considered speech for purposes of a legal analysis. She added that whether it’s the words like “I

care” or whether it’s a picture of someone getting a massage, those are equal.

Member Cain asked if they could go through non-see-through tinting to achieve the same result and it
wouldn't be considered a sign, just because it would be a blackout color and asked if that was correct.

Director Lieber stated that that was correct.

Member Cain stated that that would just be his thought or suggestion to help them get into that
percentage that they needed to be into.

Ms. Bittner commented that regarding the tinting, when a person was in a room and they were getting

undressed, if the windows were tinted so you can't see in, but they could see out, that made them feel
uncomfortable. She said it was the same thing with their door and that they had black curtains

Page 7 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 7
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

temporarily on the door, because if someone's walking down the hall or leaves the room to go to use the
restroom, they were in bathrobes.

Member Cain stated that he believed they made a film for both sides for windows for that reason.

Ms. Bittner stated that they did but the hard part was also being able to put signage up as well as
protective film or covering for privacy was kind of tricky. She mentioned that she had been trying and it
took her months to figure out even what would be something that she could use for dual purposes. She
said that it was also a covering, but it was also kind of like signage so people could identify them because
their main entrance was in the rear and they had been having a lot of trouble with people seeing them
and knowing where to go.

Mr. Cain stated that using that other film with what they had, they could shrink what they had. They
could still purvey their message and still get into their percentage with a different covering by doing the
math he commented that that was just his thought.

Ms. Bittner stated that for clarification, the two side windows that were divided by the frame were not
included in the area and asked if that was correct.

Director Lieber stated that they were a separate window area.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that what Director Lieber stated was that it was considered a different
part.

Ms. Bittner commented that because if it was, then the images would have to be shrunk down to the
point that she didn’t think they would be viewable from the street, which was obviously the point of
renting the unit. She stated that that was her concern with the area if it was only those four windows.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that for clarification purposes the Board was looking at just the sign issue
and being able to see in and out, while she understood that was very important to the applicant, was
really not something that the Board could consider. She explained that the Board was just looking at the
area and according to the way that Director Lieber and the Planning Department had determined the
variance request, she may have asked for an 80% variance, but it was a 100% variance. She asked if there
was anyone in the audience that wanted to speak on behalf of the matter.

Holly Swank, 36259 Center Ridge Road, North Ridgeville, OH 44039, was sworn in.

Ms. Swenk stated that she was a North Ridgeville Eye Care patient when they moved into that building
and that the front room was an exam room and the signage that was there, it covered the inside and the
outside. She stated that she understood that they probably didn't get caught and they probably didn't get
avariance, but her question was if the variance was granted, did it go with the building itself or did it
stay with the business.

Chairwoman Masterson replied that it stayed with the building.

Ms. Swenk stated that she didn’t know the massage place was there until she turned the corner and saw
the signs. She mentioned that she didn’t think the pictures were in bad taste and she knew that they

Page 8 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 8
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

weren't supposed to talk about the pictures, but she just felt like it would be another expense for her to
incur moving into the unit and having those big signs prior to being there. She stated that she knew
ignorance was 1/10th of the law, but she advocated for the Board to grant it. She said that she did believe
the building, if the Board granted the variance, she believed that the building if sold would probably be
sold to the city, so then it wouldn't be an issue. She added that she they needed to do what they could to
keep businesses in North Ridgeville.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if there was anyone else who wished to speak on the matter.
ohn Borden, 40182 Biggs Rd, Lagrange, OH 40182, was sworn in.

Mr. Borden stated that he understood what they were saying with the covering and he knew it was in
their packets but he wanted to reiterate that as soon as they added the pictures, the uptick in clientele
kicked up tremendously and as a small business owner and part owner, that was a huge thing. He added
that he didn’t think it was in bad taste and that they could go around and look at all the other the chain
massage businesses and they did the same thing with all of those locations, with those pictures and those
clings. He said that it was normal and not abnormal. He mentioned that the other thing he just didn't
understand was what was meant by those two windows not being part of the front window because
they're separated by the same frame, the exact same frame as the front and that they weren’t separated
like architecturally.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that just like a building, the front is the front, and the side is the side.

Director Lieber stated that when the building has turns and angles or if a building had glass all the way
around for example, you wouldn't say that the front and the back, just because it was glass all the way
around, was the same window area. She explained that when there's a 90 degree bend in the building,
that became an architectural element where the building itself has changed in orientation and footprint.
She stated that if that little area was popped out parallel to those windows, it would be the same window
area, but it wasn't.

Mr. Borden commented that it was more perpendicular.

Chairwoman Masterson asked if anyone else had any questions or comments.

None were given.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that she really didn’t like large variances and a 100% variance was a really
large variance for her to try to justify. She said that she understood that there was a sign in there in the
past, but it looked like it wasn't legal.

Council Liaison Winkel stated that he agreed with the comments that the pictures seem pretty common
with that type of business but asked Assistant Law Director Morgan if it was possible for the variance to
be tied to the business permit, the business application that they would file with the city that was

required for the use permit.

Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that while such an approach was possible, it was generally
discouraged due to the difficulty of monitoring it once implemented. She added that she would not

Page 9 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 9
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

encourage it. She agreed with the Chairwoman that this was a very large variance request and clarified
that the ordinance is content-neutral, meaning the Board only needed to consider square footage, not
the content of the signage.

Chairwoman Masterson asked the applicant if it was possible to table the application and then they came
back next month with another solution because she had a hard time when someone was asking for a
100% variance. She explained that once the Board made their determination, any appeal to their
decision would have to go through Common Pleas Court. She stated that they had the option of
withdrawing the application or tabling it or they could take a vote.

Ms. Bittner asked if she would be in violation and would have to remove anything during that process or
would they just be waiting until she proposed new ideas.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that in the meantime, it would be allowed to stay the way it was until the
matter was resolved.

Ms. Bittner stated that they could definitely test different things and table the application. She remarked
that it was an additional expense and that they had paid $600 for the signs.

Chairwoman Masterson stated that she understood and appreciated small businesses, but she was asking
for a 100% variance and that sets precedent. She added that while yes, she did go through expense, the
other aspect was that she should have checked with the city if there were any rules and regulations. She
explained that she had two options, the Board could continue on and she could ask for a vote or they
could table it and she could come up with some other solutions that were not such a large variance
request.
Ms. Bittner stated that that sounded good.
Chairwoman Masterson asked if they were going to table the application.
Ms. Bittner stated that that was correct.

Moved by Masterson and seconded by Cain to approve the variance.
A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried.

Yes-5 No-0

ADJOURNMENT:

The meeting was adjourned at 7:39 PM.

Page 10 of 19



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS PAGE 10
REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2025

Linda Masterson Tina Wieber
Chairwoman Recording Secretary/Deputy Clerk of Council

Thursday, December 18, 2025
Date Approved

Page 11 of 19



CITY OF NORTH

Board of Zoning & Building Appeals Application 3 w%

EST 1810

SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS

Board of Zoning and Building Appeals meetings are held on the fourth Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in Council
Chambers at City Hall. Applications must be filed with the Building Division at least 20 days prior to the date of the
Board hearing at which the request will be considered. To be processed, applications must include:

1. Completed and signed application with application fee;

2. Ten (10) sets of dimensioned site plans, building details or other drawings and information depicting the request; and
3. Narrative of the request relative to standards of approval for variances or rationale for appeal.

PROJECT INFORMATION
6460 Stoney Ridge Road, North Ridgeville OH 44039

Location address
0700028101098 Residental
Parcel number Current zoning

| would like to build a pole barn on my property to house my RV and Trailer. Location in Front of House
Appeal or variance (attach supporting documentation)

John Phelan
Name/Company

6460 Stoney Ridge Road, North Ridgeville OH 44039
Applicant address

Applicant phone Applicant email

PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION

John & Jennifer Phelan
Name/Company
6460 Stoney Ridge Road, North Ridgeville OH 44039

Property owner address

Property owner phone Property owner email

AUTHORIZATION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

LY

v

kpplicant signatur

operty owner signature

1 hereby authorize the City of North Ridgeville, includingBoard of Zoning and Building Appeals members, to view the premises
and consent to their entry onto the property for the purpose of observing site conditions related to review of my application. The
materials I have submitted depict the property lines accurately and in accordance with the plat map to the best of my knowledge. I
understand that any approval granted is based upon the presumption of accuracy of these plans and that the City has no obligation
to independently survey or otherwise determine the accuracy of plans, drawings or other documents. In the event a discrepancy is
found to exist, I will take such action as may be needed to provide the correct information. I acknowledge and accept that the
representations made in this application and at the public hearing constitute the basis for the decision by the Board. Any
misrepresentations, whether knowingly made or not, may result in revocation of the Board’s decision. Statements made by an
applicant/agent are deemed to be statements of the owner for the purpose of the Board’s decision.

FE2 Ho Date Received
LQJ /’/”,2202/5‘ 034[ FRERT RS 5
55,00 ye g7 | N0V Tins B

e ——

e e — T T 3 e

(440) 490-2042

I, B g T W S - e

nridgevill

““Page,12 0119

CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE



CITY OF NORTH o
lgev
EST 1810

Board of Zoning & Building Appeals Staff Report

Case PPZ2025-0391

Property Owner John & Jennifer Phelan
PPN 07-00-028-101-098
Property Address 6460 Stoney Ridge Road
Zoning R-1 Residence District
Applicant Name Same

Applicant Address Same

Project Garage

Meeting Date December 18, 2025
Report Date December 3, 2025
REQUESTED VARIANCES CODIFIED REFERENCES

1. Avariance for a garage in the 1294.03 DETACHED PRIVATE GARAGES
front yard. Code allows garages | (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, wherever, under
in rear yard only, Section this Zoning Code, a single-family or two-family dwelling is
1294.03(c). permitted, one detached private garage shall be permitted to
occupy the rear yard according to the terms of this section, in
2. A 4-footvariance for height of a | spite of any yard requirements provided in any other provision

garage. Height of proposed of this Zoning Code.
garage is 19 feet, code allows 15 | (d)(1) In all residential districts, no detached private garage
feet, Section 1294.03(d)(1). shall exceed one story or fifteen feet in height for a single-

family or two-family residential structure. No detached private
garage shall exceed twenty-six feet in length or width or be
over 676 square feet in area in any residential district zone
with one-half acre or less.

"Yard, front" means a yard extending across the front of a lot
between the side lot lines and being the minimum horizontal
distance between the street right of way line and the main
building, or any projection thereof, other than the projections
of uncovered steps, uncovered balconies or uncovered
porches. On corner lots, the front yard shall be considered as
parallel to the street upon which the lot has its least
dimension.

"Yard, rear" means a yard extending across the full width of a
lot between the rear lot line and the rear of the main building,
or any projection thereof, other than the projections of
uncovered steps, unenclosed balconies or unenclosed
porches.

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 7307 Avon Belden Road (440)490-2078
North Ridgeville, OH 44039 nridgeville.org

Page 13 of 19



Summary of Request:

The applicant proposes constructing a 32’ x 64’ pole building on their 3.95-acre property on Stoney Ridge
Road. The intent of the structure is to store recreational vehicles; therefore, the building is classified as a
garage. Note: Per the zoning code, “outbuilding” means storage buildings for purposes other than for the
parking of motor vehicles such as cars or trucks or similar vehicles.

The house is set back over 400 feet from the right of way and is positioned about midway to the rear
property line. Much of the rear yard - about an acre - is taken up by a pond. An existing detached garage
sits between the house and the street. Records indicate the garage was permitted in 2001 to the previous
owner; no variance was granted for the garage placement in the front yard.

The proposed pole building would be situated between the house and existing garage on the same side of
the driveway as the garage, approximately 360 feet from the street line. Although located between the
dwelling and the street (therefore technically in the “front yard” by definition), the building would be set

back considerably from the road. Additionally, the proposed garage height is 19 feet, which is 4 feet
greater than the allowable 15 feet.

Review of Duncan Factors:

Can the property yield a reasonable return or can there be any beneficial use of the property without
the variance?

Yes, the property can be used for its intended purpose without the variance.

Is the variance substantial?

Technically, yes. Placement in the front yard conflicts directly with code. However, given the property’s

size and unique characteristics - the large pond and the home sewage treatment system in the back yard
- along with the significant setback distance (360 feet), the practical impact is minimal. The building will
not appear to be in a traditional “front yard.” If the building were classified as an outbuilding and not a

garage, the height variance would not be necessary.

Will the essential character of the neighborhood be substantially altered or will adjoining properties
suffer a substantial detriment as a result of the variance?

No. The proposed structure is consistent in scale and appearance with other large lot, rural properties
on Stoney Ridge Road.

Will the variance adversely affect the delivery of governmental services (e.g. water, sewer, garbage)?
No.

Did the property owner purchase the property with knowledge of the zoning restriction?

Yes. The restriction limiting garages to rear yards has been part of the zoning code for many years.

Can the property owner’s predicament be precluded through some method other than a variance?

Page 14 of 19



Not reasonably. Due to the lot’s configuration, placing the garage strictly in the rear yard would require
excessive distance from existing drive access and utilities, and would be impractical given the location of
the pond and home sewage treatment system.

Would the spirit and intent behind the zoning requirement be observed and substantial justice done by
granting the variance?

Yes. The intent of the code is to maintain orderly and unobtrusive placement of accessory structures

relative to dwellings and street view. Given the generous setback, granting the variance would not
undermine that intent and would permit a reasonable and functional layout for the property.

Page 15 of 19



Hello Zoning Board,

My name is John Phelan and | live at 6460 Stoney Ridge Road in North Ridgeville. My wife
Jennifer and | have lived in North Ridgeville for the past 21 years, first in Meadow Lakes and for

the last 6 at our current address.

The home we currently own sits on roughly 3.95 Acres of property across 2 parcels. The large
parcel is approximately 3.45 Acres and a smaller parcel that is approximately .5 acres. Our
home sits back approximately 450’ from Stone Ridge Road.

As a family we have always loved to camp and over the years have gotten large and larger
trailers or motor homes. At this point my wife and | have a 45’ motorhome that currently sits
outside all year on a concrete pad next to our detached garage. We would like to build a 32’ x
64’ x 16’ Pole Building on our property for us to be able to store our motorhome and trailer
inside. The total height of the building is 20’ - 21’

| recently discussed my project ideas with North Ridgeville’s Chief Building Official Guy Fursdon.
During that conversation he indicated to me that | would need to apply for a zoning variance
request because | would like to have the pole building in front of my house. That has driven this

request.

We would like to place the pole building approximately 360’ off the road and 30’ off of our
southern property line. This location is ideal in our minds for several reasons.
e This would allow easy access to park our motorhome off of our existing driveway.
e This would allow relatively easy ability to run electricity to the building.
e This location would not cover any of our existing utilities running to our house, gas and
water. Power and Cable are above ground
e This location would not cover our inground geothermal piping install.

The simple question of why not just put it in our back yard has crossed our minds several times
and there are several reasons that would not be ideal in our mind.
e Our backyard, while large in size, has a 1 acre pond in it that consumes much of our
usable space.
e We have a septic system at our house and the current leach field is in the general area
that the building would need to sit on top of
e The driveway back to a building in our back yard would need to be approximately 240’ vs
the 30’ - 40’ in our preferred location.
| have attached a site maps showing the location we would like to put our pole building.

Please let me know if you have any questions about our request
John Phelan

Page 16 of 19



Page 17 of 19



~$202/02/04
HOEQE LBQUINN SyewINeY

ueldyd wyor,
6.9
Zne3
N ——z/10T jl 8 ~IL 8 Il 8 ~|L g Jl- 8 % 8 ; fTOL L b
: = [*] U U U U 5] u D a:t_{q
= Q3X14 1HM SNI 0209 Q3XI4 LHM SNI 0209 3X14 LHM SNI 0Z09-~ =
& =y
< S o e 3
- . -]
! ! o g
i 1 e : O
{ { Lo g o
e ! 217
.. | >N i Y
5 - 2 I i
i g 3 | - I ]
! o N
| i - ! i
' | L i o ERR IR
| i et ! ® §!
l |
b J
J- g w8/S2,1L ! ! p
¢ F " :Jeuogeiq im __ mll 1 3
F o ";.~..._._._._......_._..._..._._,__.._i = . (= 5
i | e
] L i’
! i . >
. i
A !
P §° [ -
P 7
| s
[ e ! &
| S WOR— N
s m/ j
= .-~Ri1vd/M ONIMS 1431 9 anos
8 fud x| 0 o fu] ful fal ful [ @
L N - | . ] o I s | g ! 8 | 0T,
/10T % B 8 ] 8 1 8 o 8 o 8 1 3 fe ATOT Ly
T aneg
N M 'bs g¥02 ‘esn Rnuspisey
gl bl
onsaepy

uoponnENY

100AYT 3104

NOILONRLSNOS
“"\E (S

Page 18 of 19



GABLE1 CROSS SECTION

ROOF LAYER 1: BROWN METAL W/DRIP STOP STEEL
PANEL

PURLINS: 2 X 4 SPF #2 FASTENED LAYING FLAT

SUB FACIA: 2 X 6 SPF #2

FACIA COVERING: TAN STEEL 1 1/2IN. X 6 IN. ANGLE 6
X 10FTOIN

UNDEREAVE: TAN SOLID FIVE STAR PANEL SOLID 36
INX1FTOIN

CORNER POSTS: RIGIDPLY GLU-LAM NO NAIL 3 PLY 4.5
X6

INTERMEDIATE POSTS: RIGIDPLY GLU-LAM NO NAIL 3
PLY 4.5 X 6 SPACING 8 FT 0.C.

EXTERIOR CARRIER: SPF #2 2 X 12

INTERIOR CARRIER: SPF #2 2 X 12

EXTERIOR WALL GIRTS: SPF #2 2 X 4

WALL LAYER 1: TAN FIVE STAR PANEL STEEL PANEL

EXTERIOR SKIRT BOARD: 2 ROWS OF £2V ACQ.40 T&
G2X8

SIDING BEGINS 8 5/8 IN. BELOW THE TOP OF THE TOP
SKIRT BOARD

EARTH GRADE BEGINS 14 IN. BELOW THE TOP OF THE
TOP SKIRT BOARD

"John Phelan
Estimate Number: 30396
10/20/2025"

187 1/2in.

48 in.

]

8in.

327/8in.

N

19in.
A
11 %e in.

8 5/8 in.

&
< ¢

L3%3
<

182 in,

192 in

4/12 PITCH TRUSS SYSTEM WITH A STANDARD HEEL
(HEEL HEIGHT: 0-5-12 OR § 3/4 IN.)

TRUSS SPACING: 48 IN. O.C.

TRUSS LOADING INFORMATION: TCLY/TCDL/BCLL/BCDL
20-5-0-5

TOTAL TRUSS LOADING = 30 P.S.F.

BRACE PER TRUSS MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS

INTERIOR FINISHED FLOOR HT. WILL BE 10 in. BELOW
THE TOP OF THE TOP SKIRT BOARD

4 IN. CONCRETE FLOOR W/STRUCTURAL STRENGTH -
3500 P.S.I.

UNDISTURBED SOIL OR COMPACTED SAND FILL
BACKFILL 24 IN. HOLE WITH SAND/GRAVEL FILL &
COMPACT

PIER FOOTING: PRECAST 5000 P.S.1. 22 IN. X WIDE 8
IN. THICK CONCRETE PAD

Page 19 of 19



	 CALL TO ORDER
	 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	 ROLL CALL
	 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	 Regular meeting minutes of November 20, 2025
	11.20.2025 BZBA Minutes


	 PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT
	 OTHER REPORTS OR CORRESPONDENCE
	 Schedule BZBA 2026 Training

	 PUBLIC HEARINGS
	 PPZ2025-0391 John & Jennifer Phelan, 6460 Stoney R
	PPZ2025-0391 - 6460 Stoney Ridge Rd_Redacted


	 ADJOURNMENT



